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PROCEEDINGS

. DB AL'L B Y,

In the Fourth Sess1ons of the Mayoralty of

The Right Hon. MarsHE DickiINson, Efg;
Lorp-MAavor of the CiTy of LONDON.
Containing the TRIALS at large of

» I Captain MORRIS, for a Rape on the Body of Mary
Shortney.

I Mi HANNAH PHILIPS, a young Lady, for Shop-
Lifting.

III. WILLIAM ADAMS, for defrauding His Majetty.
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King’s Commiffions
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ON THE

of the Peace, and Oyer and Terminer, for the City of

of LoNDON,

Hall in the Old-Bailey, Se.

EFORE theRi
Dickinson,

tHonourable M ARSHE

fq; Mayor of the faid

City; the Right Honourable William
Lord Mansfield, Chief Juftice of the
Couit of King’s-Bench; Sir Edward
Clive, Knt. one of the Juftices of the Court of
Common Pleas ; the Honourable Heneage Legge,
Efq; one of the Barons of the Court of Exche-

quer; and others his

Majefty’s Juftices of Gaol

Delivery for the faid City and County.

Londen Jury.
Thomas Chappel
John Hall
Jofeph Crifh
Richard Steward
William Clark
Stephen Goodfon
Southerne Payne
David Rivers
William Lee
Robert Garrard
Thomas Bradgate
James Jervis

Middlefex Jury.
Ralph Marfh
John Hailey
John Braint
Daniel Weedon
Edmund Franklin
Thomas Nichol
William Hawkins
William Green*
John Frame
William Cox
Francis Pope
Jofeph Finch

* Henry Briflow ferved part of the time, in the
reom of William Green, who was taken ill in
court, and could not longer attend.

The right hon. the Lord Mayor,after the court
was opened the 20th day of April, 1757, taking
notice, that in the Public Advertifer of Monday
the 18th day of this inftant April, the following
advertifement was printed, viz.

¢ To the truly charitable and humane, friend®
¢ of and enemies to the violators of virtue,

al Seffions of Gaol Delivery. of Newgate, holden
and County of MIDDLESEX, at Fuflice-

¢ An unhappy gentlewoman, whofe hufband
being under unavoidable misfortunes, was ne-
ceflitated to be continually on the foot amongit
her friends endeavouring to extricate him, was
way-laid by a bafe and notorious villain, who,
under pretence of affifting her hufband, inveigled
her into his power, and cruelly ufed and ravilhed
her, for which he ftands indi¢ed thefe feven
months paft, ever fince which he has abfconded.
But upon hearing that he was to be out-lawed,
and that the poor woman was dangeroufly ill (as
fhe has been for four months fince this unhappy
affair) he put the unhappy fufferers to great ex-
pences in attending {feveral notices of his furren-
der to trial (at times that he was well aflured
that the poor woman was not able to fit up in
her bed, much lefs to appear in court to try him)
which expence, her ficknefs, and the lofs of her
hufband’s time, has rendered them objects of
unutterable compaffion. They thercforeare in-
difpenfibly obliged thus mofk humbly to call up-
on the truly charitable and humane, to enable
them to bring this vile offender to juftice, who,
from the ftrength of mercy, and the powerful
friends, that he (vile as heis) has to ftand by
him, boafts, that he’ll get over this profecution,
which fo loudly calls for the affiftance of every
virtuous lady, tender hufband, and truly af-
fe@tionate parent. This (now) unhappy couple,
having nothing to back them in this melancholy
profecution, but the jultnefsof their refentment,
fear, that it is abfolutely neceflary for them to
have proper council at the trial, to minutely ex-
amine his witnefles (as they are told he hasa
great many prepared) haveitnotin their prefent
B ¢ abilities
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abilities to fee council (as he too well knows and
beafts of)  unlefs charitably aided, as above re-
quefted; upon the ftrength of which he pro-
pofes taking his trial next (effions at the Old-
Bailey, which begins on Wednefday next, and
¢ has given notice to the profecutors, that he will
¢ furrender in court that day.’

And that in the Public Advertifer of Tuelday
the 1gth day of this inftant April, the following
advertifement was printed, viz.

- - - L] Lo

¢ To the truly charitable and humane, friends
¢ of and enemies to the violators of virtue,
“ An unhappy gentlewoman, whofe hufband
being under unavoidable misfortunes, was necel-
fitated to be continuzlly on the foot amongft
her friends endeavouring to extricate him, was
way-laid by a bafe and notorious villain, who,
under pretence of affifting her hufband, inveigled
her into his power,and cruelly ufed and ravifh’d
her, for which he ftands indifted thefe feven
months paft, ever fince which he has ablconded.
But upon hearing that he was to be out-lawed,
and that the poor woman was dangeroufly ill (as
fhe hasbeen for four months fince this unhappy
affair) he put the unhappy fufferersto great ex-
pences in attending feveral notices of hisfurren-
der to trial (at times that he was well aflured
that the poor woman was notable to fit up in her
bed, much lefs to appear in court to try him)
which expence, her ficknefss and the lofs of her
hufband’s time, has rendered them objeéts of
unutterable compaffion. They therefore are in-
difpenfibly obligedthus moft humbly to call up-
on the truly charitable and humane, to enable
them to bring this vile offender to juftice, who,
from the firength of money, and the powerful
friends that he (vile as he is) has to{tand by
him, boafts, that he’ll get over this profecution,
which fo loudly calls for the affiftance of every
virtuous lady, tender hufband, and truly af-
fe&ionate parent, This (now) unhappy couple,
having nothing to back them in this melancholy
profecution, but the juftnefs of their refentment,
feary that it is abfolutely neceffary for them to
have proper council at the trial, to minutely ex-
amine his witnefles (as they are told he has a
great many prepared) have it not intheir prefent
abilities to fee council (as he too well knows
and boafts of) unlefs charitably aided, as above
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requefted ; upon the ftrength of which he pro-
pofes taking his txial next feflions at the Old-
Bailey, which begins to-morrow, and has given
notice to the profecutors, that he will furrender
in court that day.

¢ Donations will be moft gratefully acknow-
ledged in this paper, or in perfon by the unhap-
py fufferers, if adinitted; and will be received
by Mr. JohnFrip, apothecary, in Carey-{treet,
oppofite to the Plough-inn, Lincoln’s-inn, who
has attended the poor woman in her ficknefs
thefe four months paft, and fill attends her, and
who, in compaffion to their deplorable {ituation,
is pleafed to take the trouble upon him, )
¢ N. B. Inline 18 of this advertifement yefter-
¢ day, the flrength of mercy was printed by mif-
¢ take inftead of the frength of monay.)’

The court after mature deliberation had thereof
declared their opinion to be, That the printingand
publifhing fuch paragraphsrelative to a profecution
for felony depending in thiscourt, was not only a
public offence punifhable by inditment, and a
private injury for which the party aggrieved may
maintain his a&ion at law, but alfo was an high
contempt of this court, and ought to be taken up
and treated as fuch, for the honour of public
juftice, and to check a practice fo illegal and wick-
ed, as the printing and publifhing what may tend
to prejudice a queftion depending in judgment
here upon a criminal profecution, and "therefore
made an order to the effelt following.

London and Middlefex. '

At the general feflions of gaol delivery of New-
gate, holden for the city of London and county
of Middlefex, at Juftice-Hall in the Old-Bailey,
on Wednefday the 20th Day of April, 1757, be-
fore the Right Hon. Marfhe Dickinfon, Efg;
Mayor of the City of Londen ; the Right Hon,
William Lord Mansfield, Chief Juftice of the
Court of King’s-Bench ; Sir Edward Clive, Knt.
one of the Juftices of the Court of Common-
Pleas; the Hon, Heneage Legge, Efg; one of the
Barens of the Court of Exchequer;-and others his
Majefty’s Juftices of Gaol Delivery for the faid
City and County of Middlefex.

It appearing to this court, that in two public
papers intituled the Public Advertifer, one dated
Monday April the 18th, 1757, and the other
dated Tuefday April the 1gth, 1757, and printcg
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and fold by W. Egelfham, at the corner of Ivy-
lane in Pater—noger-mw, there is contained an
advertifement in the faid order particularly fpeci-
- fied, and to the effeét herein before fet forth.

~ Andthe preparing and printing the faid adver-
tifements relating to a profecution for felony de-
pending before this court, and endeavouring un-
der the fame to obtain donations for carrying on
fuch profecution, being a contempt of this court,
and having a manifeft tendency to the perverfion
of public juftice, it is therefore ordered by this
court, that the printer of the faid papers do per-
fonally attend this court to-morrow morning at
ten o’clock, to fhew caufe why fie fhould not be
proceeded againft for the aforefaid contempt and

mifdemeanor.,
By the Court.

On Thurfday morning the 21{t day of this in-
ftant April, the faid Wells Egeltham, the printer
of the faid papers, in obedience to the faid order,
appeared here in court, and being publicly exa-
mined, owned that he was the printer of the dail

. paper called the Public Advertifer,and had print-
ed the faid advertifements herein before fet forth
in the faid Public Advertifer of Monday and Tuel-
day laft, and exprefled great forrow for what he
had fo done, and alledged in excufe for the fame,
that be had done it thro’ inadvertence, and figai-
fied to the court his readinefs todifcover thofe who
had drawn him in to print and publifh the fame,
and having produced to the court the original
draught of the advertifements brought to him to
be inferted in the faid daily papers, and alledging
that he had made enquiry at the houfe of the faid
John Frip, whom he well knew, to find out who
was the author of the faid advertifements, and
that he underftood upon fuchenquiry one Terence
Shortney, in Chapel-ftreet, Weftminfter, the huf-
band of the woman mentioned in the faid adver-
tifements, wasthe author thereof, and had brought
the fame to the faid W. Egelfham to be printed,
the court took the matter {o offered by him into
confideration, and inregard the trial, to which the
faid advertifements refated, was appuinted to eome
on-in: this court on Saturday the 23d day of this
inftant. April, direéted the faid Mr. Egelfham ro
attend here again that day at ten o’'clock in the

forenoon,. and alterwards made anorder to the
cffect following.

London and Middlefex.

At the General Seflions of Gaol Delivery of
Newgate, holden for the City of London and
County of Middlefex, at Juftice-Hall, in the Old-
Bailey, on T hurf(day the 2 1ft Day of April,1757,
before the Right Hon, Marfhe Dickinfon, Efq;
Mayor of the City of London; the Right Hon.
William Lord Mansfield,Chief Jufticeof the Court
of King’s-Bench; Sir Edward Clive, Knt. one of
the Juftices of the Court of Common-Pleas; the
Hon. Heneage Legge, Efq; one of the Baronsof
the Exchequer; and others his Majefty’s Juftices
of Gaol Delivery for thefaid City and County of
Middlefex.

It is ordered by this court, that John Frip and
Terence Shortney do perfonally attend this court
on Saturday next,at 10 o’clockin the forenoon, to
anfwer all fuch matters and thingsasthall then and
there be objected againft them, for a certain con-
tempt and mildemeanor, in caufing an advertife-
ment to be inferted in the Public Advertifer of
Monday the 18th, and Tuefday the 1gth of April,
for the raifing of public donations for the carrying
on of a profecution depending before this court for
felony ; and for endeavouring to create public
prejudice againft the perfon charged in fuch ad-
vertifements as the offender, and who was to be
tried in this court on an indi¢tment found againft
him, to the manifeft perverfion of public juftice.

By the Court.

The courtonSaturday morning thefaid z 3dday
of April, 1757, proceeded to the trial of James
Morris, the perfon charged in the faid advertife-
ments as the aggreflor, and who was indifted by
the name of Jameg Morrig, gent. otherwile
%ﬂ;n, otherwifle guff ph, otherwife called Capt.

otrig, for that he, on the 15th day of June,
1756, affaulted Mary the wife of Terence Short-
ney, and by force and againft her will felonioufly
committed a rape on, and had carnal knowledge
of, her body.

MaryShortney being fworn depofed, That on the
roth of June, in the year 1756, fhe had been to
Clifford-ftreet, to wait upona very good friend of
her hufband’s and hers, to folicit his favour on her
hufband’s behalf, where the met with great difap-
pointment, and in coming back from thence fthe
fat herfelf down as much diftrefled, in one of the
chairs inthe Green- park, toreft herfelf. Mr.Mor-
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tis, the prifoner, came up to her there, and afked
her leave to {it down by her, and then faid,Madam,
you feem to be greatly in trouble, and look to be
more overwhelmed than a perfon of your years
ufually is, and I have often obferved you as you
have pafled and repafled this way, that you always
looked melancholy; to which fhe anfwered, God
help me, young as I am, 1 have met with a large
{hare of trouble, which is needlefs to acquaint
ou of, whoare a ftranger tome; and then hea
her if {he was married, and fhe faid yes. Then
he afked her if {he had a bad hufband, and fhe faid
fhe had as good a one as any woman had ; he then
entreated her to let him know the nature of her
affairs, and told her he had a wife for whofe mil-
conduct he was obliged to part with her, after
having had nineteen chiléren by her, that he was
then in mourning for a relation or friend that had
left his two daughters five thoufand pounds each,
and that he had an income of his own of five thou-
fand pounds a year, and that as his inclinations
were always exerted to relieve the unhappy, he
begged of her to let him know her misfortunes ;
whereupon fhe told him that her hufband had met
with great misfortunes inlife,and had been ruin’d
by thofe he took to be his friends ; and feeing Mr.
Morris to be a grave man,and thinking him to be
a perfon that heaven had fent to relieve her, fhe
acquainted him with the ftate of her hufband’s af-
fairs, to which he faid that he knew feveral people
that fhe had mention’d,and the man that fhecharg’d
a5 the occafion of her hufband’s misfortunes had
drawn him (Mr. Morris) in for 100l. and then he
bid her be comforted, and that he would reward
her expeclations in every thing, and he then puthis
hand into his pocket and took thereout 2 moidore,
which he gave her, and faid, he was forry he had
no more money about him, but that as fhe often
came backwards and forwards through the park, he
{hould have an opportunity at noon ot evening to
fee her again foon, and that {he had fet him upon
4 work that was a heaven upon carth to him.
Soon after the parted from him, and went feveral
“imes afterwards as her occafions called her that
way, but did not fec Mr. Morris again until fhe
met him by chance paffing along in Albemarle-
Meufe the T5th day of June,1756, when he told
her he was going to waitupon the lords of the ad-
miralty and could not ftay then, but defired her to
meet him in the Green-park at five that evening,

when he would talk farther to her on the fubjeét
{he had before fpoke to him; that fhe went at five
that evening into the Green-park, where fhe met
Mr. Morris, and he then told her he had inquired
into her hufband’s affairs, and found he was upon
the duke of Grafton's lift, to be one of his ma-
jefty’s meflengers, and that he Mr. Morris had 2
great dea! to fay o her, and the Park not being a
proper place to talk in, he defired fthe would goto
a tavern with him, which fheobjeéted againft; on
which Mr. Morris faid to her, do you think I
would defire you to do an improper thing? no, I
have children of my own, and if {he thought a
tavern an improper place to go o, he would go a
little way in a coach with her out of town ; and
fhe unhappily confenting thereto, he ordered the
coachman to drive to Marybone, in the way to
which place fhe told him as nigh as fhe could what
valuable things of her hufband’s were pledged and
parted with, and he f1id he would take an account
of them in writing, when they came to Marybone; -
and afterwards the coach ftopped at the garden
houfe tavern Marybone, where Mr. Morris carried
her into a rcom up ftairs, and ordered fome wine
and a bafket of cakes,and-as foon as he was ferved
with them and the fervant was gone down, Mr.
Morris began to talk toherina different firain to
what he had before fpoke to her, and faid he hoped
fhe would comply with his defires, On which fhe
told him fhe would perifh by inches firft, and
thereupon he faid the finelt “ladies in the land
will do it, and that adultery was no fin inthe eyes
of the Almighty,it wasonly calledfo by the vulgar;
that he pull’d her and teaz’d her all the time, and
at laftby force threw her on thecarpet whichwas”
in the room, from which fhe got up again upon
her knees, and beg'd and intreated him to let her
go home, and that {he would never mention the
offence he had attempted to be guilty ofy but would
bear it in her own breaft; then %hc got up and went
to the door, which fhe found faften’d, on which
{he went to the window in hopes tofee fomebody ;
that he then feized on her behind, and threw her
on fome chairs, and ftruck her head againft fome
art ofachair whichftunn’d her,and then he com-
mitted the vile faét onher by force and againft her
will. As foon as fhe could get from him fhe told
him {he wouldbring him to juftice, notwithftand-
ing the diftrefled circumftances her hufband was in,

On which he faid, have patience and compofe
yourfelf,



yourfelf, and not go to expole yourlelf,as it would

nnl;r gain her hufband’s difplealure ; and that as

1o body was mg_h or by to pmva the fat, fhe
would only ruin herlelf, and render him mcapable

of doing what he had promifed on hér hufband’s:

behalf: and he faid he would do every thing ac-

cording to his promife for herand her hufband, and

ten thoufand times more, if fhe would but behave
with difcretion. . To which fhe gave him no an-

fwer, but beg’d he would fend her home; and as

fhe faid, fhe was unable to pay for a coach, he

carried hr:rba;k along with him in a coach, and in
the coach he repeated his promile ever and oyer,

and faid he would make it ten thoufaad times more
if the would keep what had happened to herfelf.
That when fhe got home, fhe told her hufband fhe
had feen che gentleman fhe had before told him of,
and what he had faid to her ; and her hufband
very chearfully wrote out the lift of his cffeéls
pawned. And as for feveral days after that fhe ne-
ver heard from Mr, Morris, her bufband faid, as
you do not hear from this gcntlc.man, accnrdmg
to the promife you told me he had made, I'd have
you write to him, which fhe accordingly did, and
thereupon he promifed to meet her, but did not 3
then The wrote a fecond time, but he did not meet
ber ; but fhe afterwards feeing him, he bid her be
eafy for a few days, and afterwards again meeting
with hér, hedefired her to walk through the nar-
row paflage into St. James’s ftreet with him,
which fhe did, and when he got her into the
paflage, being a lonely place, he there attempted
to do what he had done at Marybone, but fhe got
from him, and immediately went home and told
her hufband of all that happened.

Q. Did you write thofe letters. yourlelf ?

Anfwer. Twrote them from copies my hufband
firft wrote,

Q. Give an account of the contents of the firft
letter,

Anfwer. 1 did not take a copy of it.

3_ Do you know it again when you fee it ?

wer, If I fec the letter I can fWLa,r to my

own hand.

Q. What was the fubftance of the firft letter?

Anfwer, To appeinca time for Mr, Morris to
meet me.

Q. How, long was this after you had been with
him to Ma:_',qum.- ?

Anfwer. 1 can’t tell to a day.

e

Q. Can you to four or five?

Anfwer. No,

Q. Can you tell when you fent the fecond let-
ter?

Anfwer. Not to a da

Q. Can you to four or ﬁw:i"

Anfier, No, it was but a few days diftance.

Court. It will be neceffary for you, in point of
law, to be a little more particular as to the aflault
on you by Mr, Morris, and what he did afterwards
to you.

Anfwer. 1 will anfwer any queftion.

Court. She fhall be atked in her crofs exami-
nation.

Council for prifoner. We make no doubt of
what an an{wer the will make.

Q. Had you ever feen the prifoner before he
came to you in the Green-park {

Anfwer. As 1 have gone to Bond-{treet I re-
member fuch a gentleman, but no farther, and [
have met him in the Park with a couple of dogs.

Q. What is your hufband’s employ ?

Anfwer. He did belong to the machine at
Weftminfter-bridge, but does not now.

Q. Did you tell him you had been abufed b}f \
Mr. Morrisy in the way you have mention’d,
when you came home from being at Mary I:rum:
with Mr, Morris ?

Anfwer. No, Mr. Morris told me the great
things he would do for my hufband, and no body
being near, nigh or by, when he did the a&, I
thought if I told’my. hufband of it, it wou’d ruin
me for ever, and ‘| ‘chofe rather to pine my life
away, than tolet my hufband know of it.. .

Q. Did Mr. Morsis, the prifoner, tell you his
name ?

Anfwer. He'did, I did not know it before,

Q. What did he fay his name was ? :

Anfwer, He {3id he was colonel Morris ; he
told me alfo were he livid, and that he had an in-
come of fivé thoufand pounds a year, but from
what I have heard fince, it is not o

Q. Did he! tell you his chriftian name?

Anfwer, No, he did not, he faid he was a
colonel in the ‘guards, and by she direCtions he
gave me I found him out.

Q. On which Jetter did he meet you?

Anfwer, The fecond, and bid me be eafy for
a few days.

C Q. from
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Q. from prifoner (be fbews two letiers and a
cover,) Are thefe your hand-writing ?

Anfwer. Thefe are my hand-writing, and this
is the cover, taking them into ber hand.

T hen the prifoner thew’d her a third, a fourth,
a fifth, a fixth, a feventh, an eighth, a ninth, all
which fhe own’d to be her own hand-writing,
and fent by her to the prifoner, They were read
in court, and are as follows.

LE T &R L
Dear Sir, \
When I had the favour of feeing you, you pro-

mifed to fee me the day following, and as I have

not had that favour ever [ince, I am afraid you,
good Sir, are difpleafed with me in fome fhape,
which heaven forbid, I beg you will pleale to let
me fee you this morning at the ufual time. If
you choofe to favour me with any anfwer by the
hearer, pleafe to let it be by a line fealed up, for
reafons I fhall tell you when I have the pleafure
to fee you, which I hope will be this day.
I am with all gratitude and reflped,
Dezar 5ir,
Your moft humble fervant,
2gth June, 1756, M. SHORTNEY.
To capt, Morris, in Bolton-ftreet,

LETTER 1L
Dear Sir,

1 was in great hopes to have the favour of fee-
ing you yefterday, I attended almoftall the day,
from one at noon, till ‘eight at night. I fhall
efteem it the greateft favour, that you, good Sir,
will be pleafed to fpare me three minutes of your
company this day. Iam now in the Park, where
I fhall wait your kind anfwer.

I am with all duty and refpect,
Dear Sir,
Your much cbliged and very hunible fervant,
July 1%, 1756. M. SHORTNEY,
To capt. Morris, in Bolton-ftreet.

LETTER L
Dear Sir,

As it is no more in my power (nor do I think
it poffible) fufficiently to apologize for being fo
troublefome to you, than it is to extol your un-
parallel'd kindnefs to me, I fhall'not attempt to
troubls you to read any thing I am able to write

on that head ; but this pleafe to give me leave to
aflure you of, that a more grateful heart is not
under the canopy of heaven than my abjeét felf is
poflefled of, and that I and my poor hufband,
whofe heart isfo full of gratitude to you, my dear-
eft and beft of gentlemen, that he can fcarcely
contain himfelf, fhall be ever on our tiptoes to
merit your kind and great favours. As you, dear
Sir, was pleafed to promife to fee me this day
without faying what time, I now moft humbly
beg to know, what hour you will do me that fa-
vour. I wait your kind anfwer as before,
I am with unalterable gratitude,
and the higheit refpect,

Dear Sir,

Your moft obliged and ever dutiful {fervant,
Saturday morning., M. SHORTREY
To capt. Morris, in Bolton-ftreet.

Lk T T ER AV:
Dear Sir,

I am frightened almoft to diftraétion left you
think me troublefome; if I am, my dear Sir,
pleafe to tell me, and I thall never be fo any more,
my fludy fhall be to deferve your favour, I hum-
bly and moft preflingly beg you will pleafe to ap-
point a time that I may have the favour of fpeak-
ing a few words to you, I fhall not detain you
many minutes.

I am, with all deference and refpedt,
Dear Sir,

Your ever grateful and moft obedient
I wait the favour of humble fervant,
your anfwer as before. M. SHoRTNEY.
Tuefday morning.
To capt. Morris, in Bolton-ftreet.

LETTERV:
Dear Sir,

From theexperienced knowledge I have of your
good nature, I humbly prefume you will not think
me too troublefome. I made bold to write you a
line a Saturday, and received for anfwer that you
would pleafe to fee me at feven in the evening,
and I waited in hopes of that favour from before
that hour, till paft eight. I moft humbly beg
the favour of feeing you this day ; if you, good
Sir, can fpare time now, I fhall not detain ﬁrnu

three
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three minutes, I wait your kind anf{wer as be-
fore.

1 am with the utmoft fenfe of gratitude,

and due refpect,
Dear Sir,
Y our moft obliged and ever dutiful fervant,

To capt. Morris, M. SHORTNEY.

in Bolton-ftreet.

EETTER VI
Dear Sir,

I have fuch an abfolute rieceffity to fpeak two
or three words to you, that I moft humbly and
moft preflingly beg, you will be pleafed to let me
have that favour now ; my dear Sir, I befeech you
not to deny me this favour, for which I now in
great hopes wait. I fhall not attempt to trefpafs
on your time three minutes if you pleafe. I muit
entirely rely on your goodnefs for pardon for my
thus importuning you. Iam with inexprefible
gratitude, and the greateft relpect,

Dear Sir,
our ever dutiful,
and moft cbedient fervant,

To capt. Morris, M. SHORTNEY,
in Bolton-ftreet.

LETTER VI,
Dear Sir,

Words cannot exprefs the uneafinefs for fear
T have in fome fhape offended you, which heaven
forbid; this I dreadfully apprehend from my not
having the favour of feeing you, agreeable to your
feveral promifes. I every day waited, and God
knows with an aching heart ; what adds infinitely
to my fear is, that I faw you on Saturday evening,
in the Park, twice, and paid my refpeéts to you in
a prudent manner, as I thought, and you did not
take the leaft notice of me; I waited till almoft
1o 'clock ; fure you, dear Sir, who was fo feel-
ingly touched with my unhappy cafe, fo kindly
affifted me, and in your great goodnefs was plea-
fed to promife me your future friendfhip, will not
turn your back to me without a real caule ; (which
indeed you fhall not have from me) my fears and
appreheniions does almoft diftraét me; if my im-
portunity has unhappily difpleafed you, my dear
Sir, pardon me, 1 fhall not do it any more, 1
am, and fhall be quite unhappy, till I have the fa-
vour to fpeak to you, which I beg, for God’s
fake, you will let me have this morning ; I fhall

wait at the ufual place, from the time this letter
is left till To o’clock; my dear Sir, don’t let me
wait in vain. Iam, with the utmoft fenfe of gra-
titude, and the greateft refpect, .
Dear Sir,
Your moft obedient
and moft humble fervant,
Monday morning. M. SHORTNEY.
To capt. Morris, in Bolton-ftreet.

LETTER VIIL
Dear Sir,

I waited yefterday evening, agreeable to your
appointment ; my dear Sir, pleafe to pardon my
being thus troublefome, which I cannot help till [
have the favour of feeing you, which favour I
hope you will now pleafe to do me, as I fhall wait
in hope thereof,

I am with due refpeét,
Dear Sir,
Your moft humble fervant, -
To capt, Morris, M. SHoRTHEY.
in Bolion-ftreet. :

LETTER IX;
Dear Sir,

T moft prefingly beg the favour to fpeak a word
to you; fure, dear Sir, you can fpare meone mi-
nute; I am the bearer of this myfelf.

I am, with due refpeét,
Dear Sir,
Y our moft humble fervant,
M.SHORTNEY.
If I have not the favour to fee you now, I {hall
wait all the morning and all the evening,
for fee you, by fome means, if you pleafe,
I muft.
Wednefday morning.
To capt. Morris, in Bolton-ftreet.

Q. Did you difcover the whole that happen’d
between you and Mr. Morris to your hufband,
after he made the fecond attempt ¢

Anfwer, 1did.

Q. Can you tell how many letters have paft ?

Anfwer. No, Icannot ; my hufband firft wrote
all the nine letters which have been read, and I
copied them and fent them.

Q. How often might you fee him after the 15 th
of June.

Anfwer.
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Anfwer. Upon my word I can’t pofitively fay
how many times. I faw him two or three times,
It was three times, and he propoled every time
‘what he would do, and beg’dthat I would not di-
vulge any thing,. i

Q. What were the favours be had done you?

Anfwer. He gave me a moidore, and likewife
went to the duke of Grafton to fpeak in the be-
half of my hufband, as he told me, and found my
hufband upon the lift for a meflengery and recom-
mended him alfo to the duke,

Q. When did you make the firft difcovery of
this to a magiftrate?

Anfwer. It was in September.

Q. Where?

Anfwer. At Hicks’s-Hall, where the indict-
ment was found againft the prifoner, and I had a
warrant granted on it afterwards againft him,

Q. Was there no propofal ever made from you
or your hufband to the prifoner, to make it up?

Anfwer."No, never, no fuch thing,.

Q. Give an account of all the times you was
with him. -

Anfwer, I was with him on the 1oth of June,
the 15th, and I believe three times afterwards.

Q. from prifener. What time of the day was I
with you at Marybone?

Anfwer. I met you at five in the evening in the
Park, and we were at Marybone between fix and
feven, on the 15th.

Q. from prifener. How long did we ftay there?

Anfwer. That I can’t pofitively fay ; I was in
too great a confufion to obferve the time. I had
no watch or clock.

Q. In what room were you there?

Anfwer. In a one pair of ftairs room back-
wards out into the garden.

Q. Who did you fee going up-ftairs into the
room !

Anfwer, 1 faw nobody but a fervant that ferv’d
us there. 'When we got into the room I faw a
woman, but nobody but a fervant came nigh me.

Q. How many chairs was this injury done to
you onf

Anfwer- 1 don’t know, neither can I fay in
what manner they were placed.

Q. What wasyou doing at the time he placed
the chairs ?

Anfwer, 1 was gafping for breath. I did not
fee him take the chairs, for my back was to-
wards him.

-

Q. Did you, at that time, when you found the
door faft and flew to the window, make any out-
cry in order for affiftance?

Anfwer. 1call’d out, knock’d feveral times with
my heel, and lamented and cried, but nobody came.
I cried very much, that they might have heard
me the whole houfe over.

Q. Who was the reckoning paid to ?

Anfwer. Nobody came into the room to re-
ceive the reckoning,

Q. Who paid the reckoning ?

Anfever. 1 don’t know,

Q. Who did you fee in the houfe ?

Anfwer. I faw nobody but a girl at going out.

Q. How old might fhe appear to be?

Anfwer, She was a woman grown. She can
{wear the faw me there, but I can’t find her.

Q. Did you make any complaints of the in-
jury you had received, to any there?

Anfwer. No, <

Q. Did you to the coachman ?

Anfwer, No,

Q. Whether or no you have made it a cuftom
to follicit people in the Park about charity ?

Aﬂfg:rr. ﬁu, I never didi ¢ 47

. Did not you afk the prifoner for .charity ?

%rﬁufr. Ng_ : i 4

Q. from prifener. Give an account of the in-
jury you received ; you are a married woman, and
can very well do it,

Council for the prifoner. In what fituation did
you find him ? b

Anfeer. 1 found him in my body.

: Q. Did you perceive any thing come from
1im ¢

: Anfewer. 1 found him difcharge nature in my

ody. '

Q. How long ago is it that you had notice of
?is furrendering, and taking his trial at this'fel~
1005 £ ;

Anfwer. Laft Thurfday was fe’nnight.

Q. Where is the girl you fay you faw at Mary-
bone ?

Anfwer. She is gone to another place, and they
will not inform me where.

Terence Shortney, the bufband of the faid Mary
Shortney, being fworn faid, That all the nine
letters, as were produced, were every one of them
originally wrote by him before he knew any thing
of the fact, with which the prifoner now ftands

charged ;
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charged; that witnes's wife told him how the
prifoner had propofed to be a very good friend to
witnefs, who'thereupon faid to his wife, take care,
my dear, and be upon your guard: Asl was
at that time confined at home, under the moft
unhappy circumftances in the world, and could
not go out myfelf, my wife told me he (the prifo-
ner) defired me to fend him a lift of what cloaths

I 'had in pawn, which I did, and not hearing from

him, I faid to her, I am furprifed I don’c hear

from the gentleman, as you faid he appeared to
be 2 man of fortune,

Q. Did you ever afk any body elfe about him?

Anfwer. Not as I can recclle.

Q. What time was this correfpondence conti-
nued? for it certainly muft be between the 15th
of June and the 13th of September, when the bill
was found. When was the laft letter wrote ?

i Anfwer. They were all wrote near one ano-
er. | :
Q. When did

to you?

Anfwer. 1 can’ tell the day, but at that time
I ran out and found him in the Park; I obferved
her in tears in bed before that.

Q. Did fhe go to fee the prifoncr with your
confent ? )

Anfwer. She did, and as foon as fhe came home
‘{hc burft out into tears; I faid, what is the mat-
ter ! She faid, “ Why will you fend me to look
¢ like an objet of charity, fitting in the Park 7
Upon my hearing this [ went to the Park, and
ran myfelf quite out of breath (I did not ftay to
hear whether he really had committed the fact)
and by the defcription fhe had given me of the
prifoner I found him.

Q. Had you ever been with her in the Park ?

Anfwer. Yes, I had often ; 1 faid to the pri-
foner, is your name Morris ? yes, faid he: I faid,
my name’s Shortney. He faid, I'll cereainly do for
]:uu 5 you, you villain, faid I, you do for me? you

ave ruined and undone me. " What is the mat-
ter? faid be ; on which I faid, have you not ruin-
ed my wife? I defire no fatisfaction of you, you
have ruined and undone me ; will you fight me?

Q. When was this?

Anfwer. This was the very morning juft after
fhe told me what had happened.

Q. What day was it?

your wife make this difcovery

gk _ff;.!fwgr, Upgn my word I can't tell when it
was.

Q. How long might it be before the bill of in-
di€tment was foond ?

Anfier. 1 believe it might be about 2 month
before, or fomething thereabouts.

Q. Did you get a warrant before the bill of
indiétment was found ?

Anfwer. No, T did not.

Q. Why did not you get the warrant firft?

Anfwer. 1 did not know what to do, [ had 1o -
friend to apply to, I went to one Mr. Lee, and
told him the affair, He faid, he knew the man
extremely well, he is a man of a bad character.
Mr. Lee came to cur houfe, and my wife told him
every thing that pafled. - He call’d upon me one
Sunday, and defired me to go as far as Marybone
with him, which I did. He examined the fervant
of the houfe. The girl faid fhe remembered the
prifoner being there. Mr. Lee faid, if he féund it
as fhe faid, he would undertake it. He can {wear
what the girl faid, for we fufpe&t he’ll deny being
there; for he faid to me, when [ went to him,
€ Upon my honour I never was in company
¢ with her in my life.” No! not at Marybone,
faid I; no, never in my life, faid he.

Q. How many times after the r5th of June
did your wife meet him with your privity ¢

Anfwer. Upon my word I cannot tell, T be-
lieve it may be fifteen times ; very frequently.

Q. from prifaner. Look at this letter, is the
fame, and the name your writing ?

Anfwer. (He takes it in bis hand.) It is.

Q. from prifoner. Here is another letter, pray
look at that.

Anfwer, ( He takes it in bis band.) This is my
hand-writing, Then the letters were read, and
are as follow :

LETTER L

SIR,

1 humbly hope, as you in your great goodnefs
have been pleafed, from the melancholy account
you have given my wife leave to relate to you of
our diftrefles, to aid us in the kind and charitable
manner you have done, and have promifed us your
future aid (unheard of goodnefs and charity ! toa
degree that wants a name) that you will pleafe
to pardon my taking this unfeemly liberty, for

which 1 blufh ; but my wife has fent me mv:;d,
: at
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that you are going out of town for fome time,
which, indeed  is the. principal caufe of my pre-
{fuming this liberty. That the great God may
pour down a fucceffion of bleflings on you, fhall
be my conftant prayer whilft I breathe, At leaft
¢his [ am confident of, that your benevolence will
not be unrewarded, and I am pleafed with think-
ing that the providence of the Almighty has fuffi-
cient bleflings in flore for fuch unutterable good-
nefs, and will difcharge the obligation certainly,
tho it might not be pleafing to his Divine Will
to make me the happy inftrument in doing it.
However, nothing in my power fhall be wanting
to fhew my graticude; I fhall make it the bulinels
of my life to thank you, and to deferve your kind
favour, AsI have not the honour to be ktown to
you, fhall not prefume to fay further of myfelf
than this, that if I could be enabled to wait on
you, and that you would be pleafed to give me
leave to do fo, T flatter myfelf, you, good Sir, will
find me deferving of bread, as indeed, Sir, there is
nothing in my abilities, becoming 2 man, that I
would not chearfully do for honeft bread. Be plea-
{ed 1o believe me, that I am not an idle noran indo-
Jent man, tho’ I am, God help me, fo much dif-
ereffed, 1 have been living, or rather ftarving on
promifes, till T have been neceflitated, to keep life
2nd foul together, to leave myfelf deftitute of even
fuch apparel as entitles me to look after any fort of
bread, and muft now, with my poor wife, inevi-
tably perifh, unlefs immediately relieved ; infhort,
-words cannot tell our deplorable fituation at this
prefent junéture ; upon the whole, as you, good
Sir, in your wonted goodnefs have been pleafed to
give me fuch ftrong inftances that you are a truly
charitable and humane gentleman, [ humbly make
bold to lay our melancholy cafe before you, in
hopes that you, in your great goodnefs, will be
pleafed to enable me to recover as much of my
cloaths, as will enable me decently to go of doors
in, which indeed, good Sir, will prevent the im-
mediate ruin of the moft abjet, the moft grate-
ful young couple under the canopy of heaven, I
thall hope your kind anfwer, and am with all de-
ference and refpedt,

SIR,
Y our moft obedient
: and moft humble fervant,
Chapple-ftreet, Weftminfter, T.SHORTNEY.
oppofite the Bluecoat- '
fchioo!, July 13, 1756,

S LETTE RS
S IR,

W hen I fpoke to you Friday noon on the imme-
diate knowledge of the cruel injury you have done -
me, under the pretended fanétion of friendfhip, I
then (God help me) could not talk coolly to you,
as indeed how could 1 ? O mifery, mifery, what
have you expofed me to? Or can you ever expect
to look your Maker in the face?—Without fay-
ing more, for I cannot nowdwell upon theunhappy
fubjed, if you will immediately enable metodifpofe
of what was moft dear to me, that you cruel man
have vilely forced from my arms, fo that the may
not become an open fhame, and enable me to
waft myfelf to fome foreign ifle, where I ma
firupgle through the remainder of my life witﬁ
fome peace, for here I can never have any, I fhall
be fatisfied to let the unhappy matter be buried in
oblivion (this you know you ought in confcience
to do, even if the law would not touch you, but
you will find it can, and that feverely too) but if

ou will not, and that immediately on the receipt
of this, I do affure you, you ﬂiaﬁ be profecuted
to theutmoft rigour of the law, and a true ftate of
the cafe made public, as the injury done me of
courfe muit be ; don’t feed yourlelf with fancies
that you may laugh at the poor injured man be-
caufle of his diftrefles in life, that you have fo vile-
ly taken advantage of ; no, believe me, you fhan’t,
you will find I fhall have powerful friends to ftand
by me, if neceffary, to profecute fo unheard of
piece of villainy. ~ Be difpofed to expend what
you will in law, you will find that the jultnels
of my caufe will weigh you down and expofe your
infamy, and cthe world will pity me,

I have not open’d the matter to any one as yet,
my lawyer will be in town this cvening, till which
time I fhall beat home, and if you havt a mind to
accommodate the matter piivately, [ will fee you
calmly, provided you act with any neceflary pru-
dence ; but, by all that is heavenly, if you fuffer me
to ftir at all, nothing can or fhall prevent my going
to the utmott length to do myfeli juftice, 1 will
admit of no folicitor but yousfelf; T value my
chiaraéter, though in diftrefled circumftances, as
much as any man under heaven, fo' that if this
matter is the leaft expofed, which it will be to-
morrow {unlefs you prevent it this day) T will never
drop it till 1 have the fatisfaction the law allows
me ; this you will find to be orthodoy, and if you

chufe
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chufe to find it neceffary to abfent yourfelf, you
‘will find it will ftick to you as clofe as wax ; not-
withftanding, I tell you ence more, Sir, that I will
give you but this day toconfider, and that I fhall

be at home till evening,

Monday Morn, The injured

T. SHORTNEY.

Crofs Examination,

Q. Was aot your wife very frequently in the
Park, foliciting alms?

Anfwer. No, never; our circumftances were
very poor, I very frequently fent her out, in or-
der to get my cloaths out of pawn, and to get
mosncy {rom her friends, becaufe I was in fuch
uphappy circumflances.

Q. from prifomer. What was you bred to?

Anfwer. 1 terved my apprenticefhip to a mer-
chant.

Q. from prifener. How long have you been
from Dublin? '

Anfwer. 1 believe about four years,

Q. How long have you been married?

Anfwer, Upwards of three years,

Q. from prifoner. What do you mean by the
machine at the New-bridge?

Anfwer, 1 wasconcerned in the Dover and Can-
terbury machines, that camethereabouttwo years
and a half ago.

Q. Did you write the printed cafe producedin
court ?

Anfwer. Tdid. \

. Can you fix the precife number of times
you underftood your wite had met Mr, Morris 2

Anfiver. It might be fifteen or twenty, or it
might be a great many more.

Q. How long aiter the 13th of July was the
fecond letter wrote by you?

Anfwer. It was a great diftance of time after
the firft, I thought him my friend when I wrote
the firft; it was a day or two after Icharg’'d him

witlr the faét in the Park.

There being no other evidence againft the pri-
foner, the court and the jury thought it necdlefs
for him to call witnefles to his charadter, and the
jury without going out of court gave their ver-
di& that theprifoner wasnot guilty ; and after the
finding the aforefaid verdiét, the foreman of the
jury told the court, that the jury apprehended the

profecution to be very iniquitous,and that the faid
Terence Shortney had proftituted his wife to fet
up the faid profecution, and to try te get a fum
of money, for the beneht of himfelf and her, from
the prifoner, and that the jury thought the faid
Terence Shortney ought to be taken notice of for -
his faid mifbehaviour.

After the faid trial was over, the faid Wells
Egelfham on the faid Saturday, the faid 23d of this
inftant April, againappeared here in court, in obe-
dience tothe afore-named order, and being called
upon by the court, produced an affidavit, which
was read, and is as followeth,

Wells Egeltham, of Pater-nofter-row, London,
printer, and Robert Spavan, of the parifh of St.
Clement Danes, in the county of Middlefex, feve-
rally make oath, and fay, and firft this deponent
Wells Egelfham for himfelf faith, that on Wednef-
day the 2oth day of Aprilinftant, on receiving an
order of the honourable court of general feflions
of gaol delivery of Newgate, holden for the city of
London and county of Middlefex, at Juftice-Hall
in the Old- Bailey, on Wednefday the 2oth day of
April, 1757, this deponent fent the other deponent
Robert Spavan, to Mr, John Frip, apothecary,
named in the advertifement fet forth in the faid
order, to enquire and find out who was theauthor
of the faid advertifement: And this deponentRo-
bert Spavan for himfelf faith, that he accordingly
went to the faid Mr, Frip’s houfe in Carey-ftreer,
when the faid Mr. Frip’s wife informed this de-
ponent, that the faid Mr. Frip her hufband was
not at home, and that he was not the author of
the faid advertifement, but that one Shortney in
Chapple-ftreet, Weftminter, hufband of the wo-
man mentioned in the faid advertifement, was the
author thereof.  And both thefe deponents fay,
that on Thuriday the 21t day of April inft, they
went to the faid Mr. Frip’s houfe in Carey-ftreet
aforefaid, when the faid Mr. Frip’swife told thefe
deponents, that the faid Mr, Frip her hufband
was not at home, and that the faid Shortney was
the author of the faid adyertifement, and that her
faid hufband hadoply permitted the faid Shortney
to make ufe of his name to receive donations as
an a& of charity. And both thele deponents
further fay, that they thereupon went to the faid
Shortney’s lodgings in Chapple-flrect aforefaid,

where thefe deponents faw the faid Shortney’s
/ wife,
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wile, who informed thefe deponents, that her huf-
band, the faid Shortney, was notat home, but that
he was the author. of the faid advertifement, and
that the herfelf was the woman mentioned and de-
{cribed therein, And thefe deponents further fay,
that they thereupon went back to the faid Mr.
Frip’s houfe in Carey-ftreet aforefaid, where they
were informed that he was at a public houfe in the
neighbourhood, to which public houfe thefe depo-
“ nents went, and found the faid Mr. Frip in com-
pany with the faid Shortney, when the faid Short-
ney owned to thefe deponents, that he was the
author of the faid advertifement,and that he him-
felf wrote it and braught it to be printed in the
news paper called the Public Advertifer, and that
his name was Terence Shortney, or to that effelt.
And this deponent Wells Egeltham faith, that the
{aid advertifement was printed in the faid news pa-
per through inadvertency, and miftake, as fuppo-
fed to be only a common begging advertifement;
and this deponent is heartily forry for the offence

‘given thereby,
W. EGELSHAM,
. R SPAV AN,
Sworn the 23d day of April,
1757,at the Seﬂinnshuukg
in the Old Bailey, before
MARSHE DICKENSON, Mayor.

After the reading of thefe affidavits, the faid
Wells Egelfham exprefling a deep fenfe of the hei-
nous nature of the crime which he had been drawn
in to commit,and folemnly engaging for the future
to takeeffc&ual care, thatnothing improper fhould
flip or be put into any paper he fhould print——

T he court feverely reprimanded him for his faid

offence; and in regard to the iranknefs and inge-
nuity of his difcovery and confeffion, did notthink
fit to proceed any further againft him in a fum-
mary way for his faid contempt.

T'he faid Terence Shortney was then called up-
on, who appeared in court, and owned that hedrew
the faid advertifement publifh’d as aforefaid in the
faid daily papers, and that the draught thereof
brought into court by the faid Weils Egeitham, as
aforefaid, was all of his, the faid Terence Short-
ney’s, own hand-writing, and that hedelivered the
faid draught to the faid Wells Egelfham, to be
printed in the faid Public Advertifcr.

Then the faid John Frip being called upon, ap-

peared in court, and owned that before the faid
advertifements printed as aforefaid were carried as
aforefaid by thefaid Terence Shortney to be print-
ed, the faid Terence Shortney called upon the
faid JohnFrip, and defired his permiffion to fuffer
the name of the faid John Frip to be inferted in
the faid advertifements, for receiving thedonations
which fhould be made in purfuance of fuch adver-
tifements, and that e the faid John Frip confented
thereto as an act of charity, without any appre-
henfion of its bad tendency. And the faid Te-
rence Shortney and John Frip feverally intreated
the court to forgive them,

The faid Mr. Morris, who remained in court,
apprehending himfelf much aggrieved by the in-
fertion of the faid advertifements in the faid Pub-
lic Advertifer, and requefting the courtthathe the
faid Mr. Morrismight beatliberty,andhaveleave
of the courtto profecute the faid TerenceShortney
and John Frip at his own expence, for their
faid offences, the court thereupon ordered them to
be feverally profecuted for the fame, and that the
faid Mr. Morris fhould enter into a recognizance
to profecute them for the faid offences,atthengxt
f.flions of Oyerand Terminer and gaol delivery
which fhall be holden for the fzid city of Londea
and county of Middlefex, and the faid Mr. Morris
thereupon in open court entered into fuch recogni-
zance; and the court then further ordered that the
faid Terence Shortney and John Frip fhould find
fufficient furetics for their appearance at-the faid
next feffions, to an{wer for their faid mifbehaviour;
and that until they fhould find fuch fureties, they
fhould feverally ftand committed to his majefty’s
gaol of Newpgate. -

Before the rifing of the court the faid JohnFrip
found bail to the fatisfuCion of the court, for his
appearance at the fuid next feflions, to anfwer
his faid contempt and mifbehaviour, and was
difcharged out of the cuftody of the gaoler of
Newgate.

But the faid Terence Shortney acquainting the
court that it was not in his power at prefent to
find any bail for his appearance at the (@id next
feffions of Oyer and Terminer and gaol delivery,
to anfwer his {aid contempt, he was ordered to
remain in the cuftodyof the gaoler of his majelty’s
faid gaol of Newgate, untilhe fhouid find fufficient
fureties for his appsarance at the faid next feffions,
to anlwer for his faid mifbehaviour,in writingand

caufing
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« caufing to be printed, in the Public Advertifer as
aforefaid, the faid fcandalous and malicious adver-
tifements, tending to prejudice a queftion depend-
ing in this court, ona criminal profecution againft
the faid Mr. Morris, and to raife money unlaw-
fully for carrying on fuch profecution, and to the
perverfion of the public juftice of this kingdom.

HRSIACICIICICK SRIGK ISR,
bannab Philips, fpinfter, was indicted for

ling on the 11th of
of filk lace, called blond-lace, value 15s. the pro-
perty of Henry Dean and John Potinger,

Walter Pojt. 1 live with Mefhieurs Dean and
Potinger. j

Q. In what capacity?

Poft. 1 ferve them as fhopman; on the r1th
of March laft, about five or fix in the evening, the
prifoner came into the profecutors fhop and afked
me to thew her fome blond-lace, and I thereupon
handed the drawer of blond-lace before her, and
fhe handled feveral pieces of lace which were in
the drawer.

Q. In what manner were the pieces done up?

Poft, They were rolled upon a card, and the
prifoner afked me the price of feveral of the laces,
and took fome of them out of the drawer, and
looked at them, fometimes at one, and fometimes
at another in each hand, and I told her the prices
of feveral of them; fhe did not buy any, but con-
vey’d out of thedrawer two cards or pieces of lace
that were therein, and'l believe fhe had one piece
of lace in her left hand, when fhe took the other
two out of the drawer with herright hand ; fhelaid
the pieces of lace fhe took out of the drawer on
the counter betwixt the drawer and herfelf,

Q. How far was the drawer from the edge of
the counter ? 4
© Pofl, I believe it might be about a foot; after
that the bent herlelf as it were forward over the
counter towards the drawer, and took hold on the
drawer and drew it nearer to her, and then fhe
brought up with her right hand one of thofe cards
of lace, which fhe had laid on the counter, and
eonveyed it under her cardinal.

Q. Did fhe continue in that fame pofture, or
alter her pofition ?

Posi. £h¢ was bending then, and fhe bent up
ugain and looked me in the face, fearing (as I ima-
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gined) that I faw her; fhe then bent herfelf over
the counter again, and pulled back her cardinal
with her left hand, and then drew the piece of
lace out with her right from under her cardinal,
and laid it on‘the counter again betwixt herfelf
and the drawer, from whence fhe had before taken
it.

Q. What did fhe fay?

Poff. She faid nothing to me. After that fhe
put her hand in the drawer and ¢xamined feveral
pieces that-were there, and paffed fome time away,
but never offered to buy any laces that were in the
drawer, and only afked the price of fome fhe had
examined; I told her the price; then fhe bent her-
felf over the counter again,and took with her right
hand the fame piece of lace as fhe had before put
down, and carried it with a quick motion under
her cardinal, and put it as it were under her arm,
and held it with her arm, and then the put her
hand directly.into the drawer, and taking hold of
the firft piece of lace that lay uppermoft, fhe took
it out and afked the price of it.

Q. Was that the fame drawer?

Pgft. The fame drawer. I told her the price
was lix-pence half-penny a yard; the then delired
me to cut her off a yard, which I did ; fhe then
alked me for fome ftriped ribbons,

Q. Was this at the fame time ?

Poft. This was dire&ly following it. 1 leaned
back into the window, and took the firft picce of
ribbon thereout of th2 window and fhewed it her ;
fhe defired me to cut off a yard without afking the
price of it, I did, and folded up the yard of blond-
lace and the yard of ribbon together in ohe paper,
and gave them into her hand; then fhe defired to
know what there was to pay. I"told her twelve-
pence half-penny, that was {ix-pence half-penny
for the yard of blond lace, and fix-pence the rib-
bon ; fhe paid me the fame, and then went out
of the fhop, and as foon as fhe was gone out at the
door I call’d to John Mortimore and Godfrey
Major ; John Mortimore is my mafters rider, and
was talking to the faid Mr, Major backwards in
the thop.

Q. What is Major ?

Poft. Heis a furrier of whom we buy mufls,
and I defired him to ftep forward immediately,
and told them what had happened, and directly
jumped over the counter, followed the prifoner,
and overtook her about five doors from my maf-
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ters, and got her back into my mafters fhop, by
telling her fhe had left fomething in the fhop; and
as foon as I got her into the thap, I diretly faid
to Mortimore, I charge this lady with taking a
piece of lace; fhe direétly faid to me, Ae with
a piece of lace, I have not got any fuch thing, neither
do I know any thing about it, 1 direétly faid you
have, and there is no occafion for you to deny it,
for the lace you have got; and then I turn’d back
her cardinal, and found the lace held between her
body andher arm, (produced in court, the card of
lace fo took from her) and he defcribed the manner
in which fhe held it, putting bis left band clofe
to bis body, and flicking the lower part of the lace
between hisarm and bedy, and depofed, that he took
the lace himf{elf on the prifoner, and from between
her body and arm under her cardinal, and gave it
to the faid John Mortimore.

Q. Were there any things befides under her
arm?

Pofl, No, there were not.

Q. Where did the put the paper with the lace
and ribbon fhe bought of you?

Pyff. 1 cannot be pofitivewhere (he put it, but
I imagine fhe put that in her pocket.

Q. What quantity is there of the lace on the
card you tcok from her?

Pgft. There are ten yards,

Q. What is the length of the card ?

Poft. 1believe it isabout five inches long.

Q. Was it of that fame fort of lace that fhe
bought ? ;

Pgfl. No,of a different laceabout half inch wide,
like what be produced in court, and the lace which
the prifoner took was about an inch and three
quarters wide.

Q. What is thatlace worth that you charge the
prifoner with taking?

Poft. 1t is worth about two fhillings per yard
to any fhop-keeper in London, John Mortimore
carried the Jace up to Mr, Dean, and when he
came down and the cafe was told to him, he fent
for a conftable, and charged the conftable with the
prifoner, and [ left them and went forward to fe-
cure the box of lace that I had left vpon the coun-
ter; and likewifle the other card, that the prifoner
had moved from the drawer,and laid on the coun-
ter, and then I left Mr. Dean and the prifoner
salking together,

Crofs Examination. '

Q. What did the prifoner afk for at firft com=
ing into the fhop?

Py/t. She afked for blond-lace,

Q. How many pieces might there be in the
drawer?

Poft. 1 believe there might be between ten and
twenty cards,

Q. Isthisa wholepiece, and what is the length?

Poft. 1 believe it is, the pieces don’trun in par-
ticular lengths, fometimes they contain more,
fometimes lefs; I believe there was none cut off
the card, but it was as my mafters bought it..

Q. ‘Was the end of it fo as it is now

Poft. 1 believe it came to my mafters fo as this
is,

Q. Was there any lace in that drawer of larger
quantities than this?

Poft. 1 can’t jultly fay whether there was ox
not; I believe there was fome of this narrow lace
that ran longer in length, and it might be more in
hu1k+

Q. Did you obferve the prifoner had any othez
parcel with her when fhe came into the fhop ?

Pgft. Not that I faw.

Council. You fay you imagine the perfon mi%t
think you faw her take the lace, and then fhe
prefently afterwards laid it down and took it up
again ?

gP::-ﬂ. I do fo, and that when fhe faw I took no
manner of notice of her firft motion, the ventur’d
to take the fecond refolution, .

Council. Then you imagine fhe faw herfelf de-
teted in the firft attempt, and after that took it
up a fecond time?

Poft. To be fure 1 do imagine the thought I
faw her, or fhe would not have laid it down
again,

Q. Defcribe the manner of the firft taking,

Poft. The firft was done with a fort of a flide,
and thefecond with a fudden jirk.

Q. In what pofition was you at the time ?

Pojt. 1 was right before her all the time.

Q. How did fhe put it down again ?

Peft. She drew her cardinal back with her left
hand, and flid the card of lace on the counter with
her right, and after {he had examined feveral other
cards of lace, then fhe put her right hand by the
fide of the drawer, and took the card of lace up

agaig
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again with a fudden jirk, and put it under her
cardinal.

Q. How wide is your counter ?

Pofi. It isabout a yard wide,

Council. When you called her back, fhe came
you fay very readily ?

Pof. She did fo.

Q. What was done upon that ?

Poft. 1 immediately charged her with having
the piece of lace, ~

Q. How far had you followed her ?

Poft. About five doors from ours,

Q. Where is your fhop ?

Poft. It is in Cheaplide.

Q. Did you go before her to your fhop?

Pefl. No, I kept behind her, fearing fthe thould
drop the lace,

Q. Did fhe hold the lace in her hand ?

Poff. No, the lace was not in her hand,

Q. Have you alwaysgiven the fame account of
this as now? :

Py, Yes.

Q. Had you never a doubt whether you took
the lace from out of her hand, or from under her
arm?

Poft. No, I never had any doubt about it, I
was always very pofitive that [ took it from under
her arm.

Q. Do youremember when you was before the
Lord-mayor ?

Pofl. Yes, very well,

Q. Did you then exprefs any doubt whether you
took it out of her handor from under her arm ?

Poff. No, I never was in any doubt at all about
it; when the prifoner wasafked by the Lord-mayor
what fhe had to fay for herfelf, her anfwer was,
that the lace was in her hand. 1 direétly con-
tradi¢ted her, and faid it was underneath her car-
dinal, I was afked by fome gentlemen there, whe-
ther her hand was under her cardinal or not. I faid
I was not pofitive to that.

Q. Was you never afked the queftion,whether
you took the lace out of her hand or not ?

Pofl. 1 was never afked that, or at leaft I did
not underftand it fo,

Q. When fhe came into the fhop again with
you, and before you took the card from her, what
did fhe fay ?

Poft. She denied having it, faying fhe had not
got it, and knew nothing of it,

Q. After this did fhe tell you who fhe was, or
defire tofend for any acquaintance,or whether fhe
had not been buying things at another fhop ?

Pofl, Ibelieve fhedid, butcannot pofitively fay;
I have heard fhementioned fomething of that kind
to Mr. Dean when | was not in the fore thop.

Q. Did notfhe fay fhedined with Mr. Belchier ?

P, 1 believe fhedid,

Q. Was her requeft of fending for any ac-
quaintarice abfolutely denied her. '

Poyjt. 1can’t fay thatit wasabfolutely denied her,
I did not hear what anfwer Mr. Dean gave. her.

Q. Do you remember Mrs. Dean and her
daughter coming down ftairs ?

Poft. 1 remember Mrs, Dean’s coming down,
but as for a daughter fhe has none.

Q. Can you fwear you did not hear Mr. Dean
deny her fending for any perfon living?

Pof. I can, Idid not. )

. Who was in the fhop at the time?

Pgff. Mr: Mortimore and Godfrey Major.

Q. Were any perfons fent for ?

Post. I believe none were fent for, but the per-
fon was immediately taken to the Manfion-houle
to be examined before the Lord-Mayor.

Q. What do you mean by faying you cannot
fay fhe was pofitively refufed fending for any of
her friends?

" Pgft. I can’t be pofitive whatanlwer Mr. Dean
made her.

Q. What did fhe fay before the Lord-mayor?

Paf?, She only faid fhe had thelace in her hand.

Q. Did fhe give no account how fhe came to
have it in her band ¢

Poff. No,

FobnMortimore. I live with Meflieurs Dean and
Potinger, I amemployed principailyas their rider,
I was in the back parc of their thop on the 11th
oflaft month, a little afrer five in the afternoon,
talking to Godfrey Major. [ heard Mr, Poft fay,
Mr. Mortimore, pray ftep forward here, for there
15 a thief. I came tothe door and look’d out, and
faw Mr, Poft fpeak to the lady, the prifoner, and
fhe turn’d round, and he follow’d her very clofe;
when they came into the fhop, he faid, Mr. Mor-
timore, this lady hasftolenacard of blond-lace, on
which fhe faid, I have no lace I’ll affure you; he
faid con’t deny it, Madam, for you have it, then
he drew back her cardinal, and there I faw the
card of blond-lace fticking between her arm and

her
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her body; he took it from her and looked at it,
and gave it to me ; then I looked at it, and faw it
mark’d with my mafter’s private mark, and the
maker’s name, T.E. or W.E. and it contained
ten yards, I afked her how fhe came to take the
Jace, fhe faid fhe did not intend to take it. I faid
I would carry it up ftairs toMr. Dean, who would
certainly fend for a conftable; on which fhe follow-
ed me to the bottom of the ftairs, and faid pray
Sir don’t, confider me, I never will offend in this
way again, I afterwards went up ftairs to Mr.
Dean and told him theaffair,who camedownalong
with me and ordered me to go for a conftable. I
went to the Nag’s-head tavern where the porters
are, for Mr. King, a porter, to go forone, and
came back and ftaid at the fhop till the beadle of
the ward came and took her into his cuftody, in
order to carry her before the Lord mayor, but 1
did not go with them to the Manfion-houfe.

Crofs Examination,

Q. How long have you liv’d with the profecu-
tors ?

Miortimore. 1 have liv’d with them from the
3oth of laft June.

Q. What did the prifoner fay when you men-
tioned fending for a conitable ?

Mortimore. She faid fhe never would offend in
this way again.

Q. Do you remember when Mr. Dean came
down, whether the wanted to (end for any of her
friends ?

Moertimare, 1 do, fhe defired Mr. Dean would
fend for Mr. Ironfide or Mr. Belchier, and fhe
mentioned fome friends, but I can’t remember who.
He told her he would not, but as the thing was
fo clear on her, he would carry her before the
Lord-mayor, and fthe might fend there for whom
{he would.

Q. Do you remember any thing of Mrs, Dean
and another lady coming down flairs?

Martimore, 1do.

Q. What did Mr. Dean fay to them ?

Myrtimore. The prifoner defired they would
petition for her, and fhe never would do fo again
the ladies did compaflionate her, and Mr. Dean
faid to them, it is my bufinefs to look after this
marter, and fent themap flairs.

IVilliam King. 1am a porter. On the r1th of
lalt month I was fent for by the laft witnefs to call

a conftable, T went and brought one toMr. Dean's
thop ; there was that lady (pointing to the prifoner)
there, and I heard her fay to Mr. Dean, pray Sir,
I beg you would forgive me, for I never did fuch
a thing before in my life.

Humphry Ralph, 1am about 16 yearsofage,
live with Meil. Dean and Potinger,and I was in the
fhop on the 11th of March, but not when the lady
was detected ; I came in afterwards, there were
Mr.Dean, Mr.Mortimore, Mr, Major, Mrs.Dean,
and the ladies that were vifiting at Mr, Dean’s
there, and Mr. Dean defired I would go for a con-
ftable, and as I was going out the lady, the prifo-
ner, beg'd fhe might be forgiven, and faid {he ne-
ver did fuch a thing before, and this fhe fpoke fe-
veral times,

Q. What were the words fhe made ufe of?-

Ralph, She beg'd he would have compaffion on
her, and not fend her away, and faid the never
did fuch a thing before.

Crofs Examination.

Q. Did you hear her fay fhe had taken the card
of lace by a miftake, before you heard her fay
thefe words?

Ralph. 1 came in almoft when fhe was going
to be {ent away ; after fhe was committed to the-
conftable I heard her fay fhe had other things, and
took it amongft them; but not at that time.

Q. Did you hear it faid by Mr. Dean or Mr.
Potinger, that fhe had faid fhe had taken it by
miftake, as foon as the was charged with it?

Ralph, 1 have heard it has been given out fo,
after the was charged with ftealing it; but I did
not hear her fay fo.

Prifoner’s defence.,

I am intirely innocent of any intention of fteal-
ing. I dined at Mr. Belchier’sthat day, from whence
Iwent tolMr. Piggot's,and boughta pair ofgloves for
alady ; fromthencel went to the profecutor’s fhop,
and bought a yard of ribbon for myfelf, and a yard
of blond-lace, which I paid for; there lay a great
many pieces of lace upon the counter, and.in ta-
king up my things I took up the lace, for which I
am profecuted, inadvertently, and went out of the
fhop. I had not gone far before a man came
and faid I had left fomething behind mein thefhop,
and thereupon I went back and afked what it was;
then he direétly took the blond-Jace out of my

; hand,
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‘hand, and charged me with having ftolen ir, It
never was under my arm, I beg’d he would let
me fend for my friends, and they would teftify to
‘him who and what I was, This they would not

rmit, and [ applied to a couple of ladies, which

bave heard fince were Mrs, Dean and her fifter,
and beg’d of them to afk Mr, Dean to doit; he
faid nothing fhould prevail upon him ; then I beg’d
of him to fend for Mr, Piggot; they faid they
would fend for nobody, but charged a conftable
‘with me, and carried me to the Manfion-Houfe,
where my Lord-mayor not being at home, they
carried me to Wood-ftreet Compter. I had three
other little parcels with me, a pair of gloves, a
‘yard of ribbon, and a yard of blond lace, which
were produced by ber in court.

Q. to Poft. Had the prifoner two or three little
parcels in her hand, which fhe laid on the counter
while fhe was looking at the drawer of lace, that
fhe had bought fome-where elfe ?

Pgff. 1 did not fee one parcel ; 1 am politive
there was not one lying on the counter,

Q. When you took her back had fhe any par-
cel in her hand ?

Poff. No; 1 faw no parcel fthe had, during the
whole time.

+ Q. When you brought her back, did the fay fhe
took it inadvertently ?

Pojt. She faid fhe did not know that fhe had it.
- Q. froma juryman. Might not the drawer be fo
high, between you and her, that it might cover a
litele parcel from your fight ?

Pgff. 1 am politive that I faw no parcel, and
that there was none put by her on the counter. I
faw the two pieces of lace that lay down between
the drawer and herfelf, and if there had been the
leaft parcel befides, I muft have feen it,

Q. How deep is the drawer?

Pgf. T believe it not quite a foot deep, but

near it.

For the Prifoner.

William Hodges. 1 live with Mr. Piggot, a ha-
berdafther,  He lives about a dozen or fourteen
doors from Mefl. Dean and Potinger,

in the afternconyabout five o’clock; Idon’t know

the day of the month,
Q. Was it the day you heard Mr, Potinger loft

fome blond lace?

I remem-.
ber the prifoner coming to our fhop on a Friday.

Hiadpes.: It was the fame day ; fhe bought a
pair of gloves, coft 134. .

Q. Lock at thefe (which were produced) are
thefe the gloves fhe bought ? '

Hodges, This is the fort of leather, I matched
them to a pattern glove.

Q. How were they folded when (he took them
away ?

Hodges. Juft as they are now (doubling them to-
getber.) She atked for fome blond lace. 1 told her
it was on the other fide, but fhe faid none would
fuit her. A gentleman’s fervant came in to buy a
pair of gloves for a lady, and I went backwards.

Q. Do you recolleét any thing of her buying
any ribbon ¢

Hodges. No.

To her Charaller. .

TVilliam Belchier, E{q; 1 remember her being
before the Lord-mayor in the evening, when
fhe was feich’d from the Compter, and what palk
there. T here was the witnefls Polt there.

Q. Do you know whether he was afked by
any body, whether this blond lace was taken from
under her arm? _ % .

Belchier, 1 particularly afk’d him that queftion
myfelf, and I’ll give the reafon why Idid afk him.
This young lady I have known [ believe eighteen
years, I had and have ftill a great regard for hex
family, -1 was at the Pope’s-Head Tavern that
evening, where Mr. Ironfide came to me, and
faid I am come to tell you of a very odd affair.
Mifs Hannah Philips is in the Compter, fhe has
been at a haberdafher’s, and has bought fome rib-
bon and a little picce of lace, and through a mif=
take fhe has taken away a piece that {he did not
buy, and they have charged a conitable with her
and fent her to the Compter, 1 defired bim to go
to Meflieurs Dean and Potinger, and give my fer-
vice, and tell them if they would be fo kind as to
releale her from the Compter, I would be an-
fwerable for her appearing before any magiftrate ;
he brought me word back they could not do it ;
then I fent to the Lord-Mayor; and defired he
would be fo good as to fend for her frem-the
Compter, and hear what fhe was charged with
that night, which he camply’d with. I was there

. when fhe was examined before the Lord-mayor,

and heard her fay, fhe carry’d a piece of lace out in

her hand which the did not pay. for, and I part}écut-
¥ arly
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Yarly afked, the firft witnels who was examined,
whether he found it in her hand or not, to fatisfy
indeed my own mind, becaufe if I thought her the
leaft guilty, I would not have appeared here on her
behalf, 1 faid are you fure where you took this

iece of lace from her, he faid from under her
cardinal; Tafk’'d was it in her hand or net, he
ftop’d ; then I afl’d him was it under her cardinal
or not, it was; did you take it from out of her
hand or not, he faid I can’t tell upon my word,
whether it was or not. I then went away fatisfied
that her own ftory might be true. I have known
her from a fmall infant.

Q. What is your opinion of her ?

Belchier. 1 believe none can exceed her as to her
integrity and honefty, and as toother things I be-
lieve fhe is very carelefs and negligent. I never
had any reafon to doubt her honeity. ;

Q. Do you think her capable of robbing people
in the manner {he has been charged? }

Belchier. 1do not, and from all the converfa-
tion I have had with Meflieurs Dean and Potin-
ger, 1 could never bring any thing to my mind
to induce me to believe that fhe is guilty of what
fhe is charged with.

Crofs Examination.

Q. Did you hear all the evidence given before
the Lord-mayor { :

Bilehier. | heard part of it, but notall. She
did infift before his Lordfhip that fhe'had taken
it thro® inadvertency.

Q. Did you hear all Poft's evidence there ?

Belchier. 1did not, her excufe there was, that
fhe faid, God blefs me, 1 have got it, and I
did not know [ took ir.

My. Edward Ironfide. 1 was before the Lord-
mayor, and heard the prifoner fay, that when fhe
went into the fhop, the had taken up a piece of
blond lace by accident, or thro’ inadvertency.

. How long have you known her ?

Ironfide. 1 believe I have known her ten or
twelve years,

Q. What is her general character ?

Irenfide. She hasalways bore the charatter of a
very honelt fober girl, and from the character that
{he has borne, and from her behaviour that I have
known, I do not think her capable of committing
the fa& laid to her charge.
with her-honefty, that I can’t think fhe did this

I am fo far fatished

with intent to defraud, I heard Mr. Belchier afk
Mr. Poft the queftion, whether the prifoner had
the lace in her hand, or whether it was conceal’d
under her arm, and he faid he could not tell whe-
ther it was or was not, that was his anfwer ; he
faid it was undef her cardinal,

Richard Neve. Tam a haberdafher. -

Q. Have not you known miftakes often hap-
pen in people’s taking things that did not belong
to them, and carrying them away?

Neve. 1 bave had two inflances of it, one
within thefe three months; one wasa lady came
into my fhop and wanted a pair of filk mittins, I
took fome out of a drawer and fthew’d her. I
believe there might be feven or eight pair on the
counter. She afked me the price of a pair. [ fitted
them on, and told her the price was four fhillings
or four and fix-pence; fhe faid, can’t you take no
lefs, and paid me for them, and took them away,
I thought fhe had taken no more; fhe return’d in
about an hour after, I was in the fhop, and faid,
Sir, T have made a very great miftake, you re-
member [ was here to buy a pair of mittins, and I
have got two pair inftead of one, and delivered
one of them to me again.

. How long have you known the prifoner ?

Newve. | have known her I believe feventeen or
eighteen years. !

Q. What is your opinion of her?

Newe. My opinion is that fhe never could bein-
tentionally guilty of the thing laid to her charge.

Q. Has fhe bought things of you? *

Newve. She has.

Col, Colliton, T have known the prifoner from
a child.

Q. In what manner has {he behaved?

Colliton. With great honefty and integrity?

Q. Do you think fhe is capable of doing fuch
an act as is laid to her charge?

Celliten. I don’t think fhe is.

Captain Beft. 1have known her between three
and four years.

Q. What is your opinion of hercharacter >
~ Befl. She has been upon a vifit at my houfe
near four months at a time, and in that time I have
trufted her with a cenfiderable charge (when I
wras obliged to go down intothecountry )with my
writings, bonds, money and every thing that I
had in my houfe, and I believe at that time there
might be above 1400/, or near 1500/ in thehoule;

2 when
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when I came home I found every thing as I lefc
_ them. She was miftrels of my keys, and from
what I know of her I verily believe I myfelf would
be giilty of what fhe is charged with as foon as
Mils Philips would. I know fhe is a little carelefs,
it is a thing I have often told her of, in leaving
things about in ene place or another where fhe did
not know afterwards to find them,

Mys. Ironfide. |- have known her fourteen or
fifteen years, and during that time fhe has fre-
quently been with me for feveral weeks together,
and 'has-behaved with great integrity and honefty,
and I never heard any thing againft her character,
neither have I the leaft reafon to believe any thing
againft it ; fhe isa giddy girl, and I have often told
her fhe would ore time or other lofe her things.

Q. Do you think fhe would be guilty of fteal-
ing the value of fifteen thillings intentionally ?

Msrs. Ironfide. Nothing fthould have brought
me before this court, if I had thought fuch things
of her,

My s. Belchier, 1 have kniown the prifoner fifteen
years, and am of opinion that fheis a very honeft
and good girl.

Q. Do you think her capable of {tealing inten-
tionally an}%jng to wrong any body?

Mys. Be¥bier. If Idid I would not have come
here. 1 know fhe bought my coufin a pair of
gloves that day, which 1 ordered her to buy, and
I paid' her for them next morning. I think thefe
are the gloves, which fhe has produced, they were
folded up as they are now, -

Mifs Belchier. I have known Mifs Philips from
a little-girl, and have been very well acquainted
with her thefe feven years; fhe hasalways borean
exceeding good character, or elfe I thould not
have appeared here on her behalf.

. Do you think hercapable of committing in-
tentionally the fact laid to her charge?

Mifs Belchier. 1 think her-incapable of it, but
think Iter from inattention and abfenceof mind to
be liable to make a miftake.

Mary Neve. 1 have known. the prifoner ever
fince the was born, I neverknew any thing of her
but what was extremely good, I think her as in-
capable of doing it as myfelf.

Q. Do you think fhe would intentionally do it
in order to wrong any body ?

M. Neve. No, 1do not, I would truft her with
all 1 have,
- Mys, Thompfen, I live with Mrs, Roberts of

Hackney, I remember Mifs Philips being at her
fchool a year and upwards.

Q. During that time what character did fhe bear ?

Mys. Thompfon. A very good one, I never heard
the leatt ill of her,

Ann Bell, 1 knew Mifs Philips froma child, fhe
has avery good charatter, I always thought hera
perfon of honefty and integrity ; fhe has been vi-
fiting at my houfe for weeks together, I think
fhe is not capable of doing intentionally what is
laid to her charge.

Mifi Clark, 1 have known Mifs Philips about
fixteen years,

Q. What is your opinion of her honefty ?

Mifs Clark. My opinien is that fhe is very ho-
neft. I have been many months with her, and the
with me backwards and forwards. I never knew
any thing of her, but ‘that fhe has been always
very honeft.

Q. Doyou think fhe would intentionally wrong
any body of fifteen fhillings?

Mifs Ciark. I don’t think fhe could. _

Council for the Crown, Where did her father
and mother live?

Mifs Clark. They lived in Thames-fireet, and
fince her mother lived at Hackney, where fhe kept
a houfe for lodgers, and now they live at Peck-
ham, and deal in linen-drapery. .

Mifs Cole. 1 have known the prifoner a dozen
years, Inever knew any ill of her, nor don’t think
her capable intentionally to wrong any body, and
I would truft her with any thing I bave,

William Pointz, Efqs 1 have known. the pri-
foner betwixt feven and eight years, and 1 never
knew any barm of her, or thoughther capable of
doing the thing laid to her charge intentionally,

Q. What is your general opinion of her ?

Paintz. I would truft her with any thing I have,

Dr, Csbourn. I have known the prifonier ever
fince fhe was a child.

Q. What is her general charafter ?

Csbourn. She has a very good chara&er fo far
asever I heard or was fenfible of, and from my
own obfervation of her, [ think her to bea-woman
of honefty and virtue, and that fhe is incapable of
doing the thing laid to heér charge intentionally.

My, Kindlefide. 1 have known the prifoner be-
tween {cven and eight years, and the has been dre-
quently at my houfe a week at a time and more. ¥

never had the leaft fulpicion of her being gui]:;;
4]
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of any thing of this kind, T always lock’d upon
her to be extremely honeft.

Q. Do you think her capable of the erime laid
to her charge?!

Kindlefide, No, T do not.

Mys. Cobourn. 1 have known Mifs Philips a-
bove ten years, I always thought fhe behaved in
a very proper manner, and believe her incapable
of wronging or injuring any one intentionally.

Mifs Ann Cabourn. I have known the prifoner
fome time, I think her incapable to wrong any
one intentionally, and I never heard fhe had done
any ill thing.

Q. Do you think fhe would take fifteen or
twenty fhillings value from any body ?

Mifs Cobourn. No, I do not think fhe inten-
tionally would.

Thomas Lane. I have known the prifoner about
four years and a half, and fhe has as good a cha-
ra&er as any young lady I ever heard of ; and from
my own obfervation of her, I think fhe deferves
the charater fhe has always had.

Q. Do you think her capable of doing what is
laid to her charge?

Lane. 1 don’t think fhe would do it by any
means in the world intentionally.

FEran. Cosk. T have known the prifoner four or
five years, and I always look’d upon her to be a
young lady deferving every body's good word,
and never thought her capable of what is laid to
her charge.

Philip How, 1 have known the priloner ever
fince fhe was a girl, and all her family.

Q. What is your opinion of her as to honefty ?

How. 1 have always thought, with regard to
henefty and integrity, no perfon ever deferved a
bettercharaéter ; her father and mother were very
eareful to inftil fuch principles into her, that would
naturally lead her to behave with integrity.

Guilty.

And after the jury fo brought in their verdict,
the prefecutors by their council moved the court
to thew what favour they could in this cafe to
the prifoner.

E T e i L i L e

qUilliam dvams, was indicted under the
ftatute of the 2d of George the II. chap. 35. for
felonioully forging, and caufing to be forged anac-

quittance or receipt, upon a falfe and counterfeited
certificate, for the over-entry of twenty pipes of
wine, whereby his majefty was defrauded of the
fum of a52l. 15, of, and for publifhing the fame
knowing it to be forged.

The indié&kment (which under the flatute was
made felony without benefit of clergy) was laid
four feveral ways:

I. For forging anacquittance or receipt upon
a falfe and counterfeited certificate, fpecifying the
inftrument or certificate.

II. For publifhing the fame, knowing it to be
forged, fpecifying the inftrument or certificate.

I1I, For forging the fame, without fpecifying
the inftrument or certificate.  An

1V. For publithing the fame, knowing it to be
forged, without fpecifyingthe inftrument or cer-
tificate.

FobnPiggot, affifiant tothereceiver general, genta
was firft called, and depofed, That the prifoner was
an examiner of certificates, or over-entries on the
duties of wine, and that the prifoneron the gthof
February laft brought to him the certificate, pro-
duced by this witnefs, for him to mark, which he
did with the initial lecters of his name, as was
ufual in fuch cafes, and that the prifoner told this
witnels that the merchant had fign’d it,and he him-
felf had witnefled it. The faid certificate being read
in court, it was thereby certified, that on the 26th
of January, 1757, Phineas Coates, merchant, en-
tered at the Cuftom-houfe ten tons of port wine,
which being damaged was delivered up to the
king, and therefore the merchant was intitled to a
certificate of over-entry, and it appeared to be
figned by the feveral proper officers,

Benjamin Batley, Efq; and John Keen, Efg;
land-furveyors, look’d on the certificate, and fwore
their feveral names, which appeared fublcribed
thereto, were not of their refpective hand=writing.

Alexander Goodwin and Richard Green, land-
waiters, looked on the certificate produced, and
fwore their feveral names, which appeared to be
fubfcribed thereto, were not of their relpective
hand-writing,

Jofeph Crelwicke, Ef; deputy collector, looked
on the certificate produced, and fwore his name,
which appeared to be fublcribed thereto, was not
of his hand-writing, and that there was notany
entry of wine at the Cuftom-houfe by Phineas

Coates, on the 26th of January laft.
Thomas
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Thomas Caufton, Efg; deputy-comptroller,

looked upon the certificate, and fwore his name,’

which appeared to be fubfcribed thereto, was not
of his hand-writing, and that his bufinefs was to
fign certificates of over-entries, and to fee that
the duties were rightly computed.

Robert Athby, clerk to thedeputy- comptroller,
looked on the CErtiﬁ{_ate, and fwore his name,
which appeared to be fubfcribed thereto, was not
of his hand-writing.

James Wadfworth, clerk to the prifoner,
looked onthe certificate, and {fwore that theletters
J. W, were not wrote by him; he alfo depofed he
had often {cen the prifoner write, and did verily
believe V. Adams, which appearzd to be fub-
fcribed thereto, and allo the letters W, A. wrote
on the back thereof, were of the prifoner’s own
hand-writing,

Edward Stanly locked on the certificate, and
{fwore the four commiffioners names, fubfcribed
thereto, were of their own rel‘peE’twf: hand-wri-
tin

%ucltd Thompfon looked on the certificate,
and fwore that the words, containing the particu-
lar duties and figures thereto, he wrote by the or-
der of the prifoner, and did not know the intent.
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Phineas Coates looked on the certificate, and
{wore that the name Phineas Coates, which ap-
peared to be indorfed thereon, was not of his hand-
writing ; and farther, that he had not, neither at
the time mentioned in the {aid certificate, nor at
any other time, made any over-entry.

Humphry Becke, clerk in the receiver general’s
office, fwore that the prifoner brought the certifi=
cate produced into the office, in order for payment
of 252l. 18, 0, and that he, che faid Becke, gave
him a ticket for the fame,

James Emmett, teller under the receiver gene-
rai, fwore, that on the gth of February laft, the
prifoner brought the ticket mentioned by the laft
witnefs,and that this witnels paid him 252l. 1s. 0%
by virtue thereof.

The prifoner in his defence faid, he did not tell
Mr.Pigatt the certificate was fign’d by Mr.Coates,
and that his own name was not to it at that time,
neither was it witnefled ; but that wasdone fince
he faw it; that it was brought to him fill'd up
with all thefe names on it; that if he was impofed
upon, he could not help it; he received the mo-
ney and paid it again,

Guilty, Death,
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